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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

AMERICA FIRST LEGAL 
FOUNDATION, 
611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231 
Washington, DC 20003  

Plaintiff, 

v. 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
DEFENSE, 
1155 Defense Pentagon 
Washington, DC 20301-1155 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No.: 

COMPLAINT 

1. Plaintiff America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) brings this action

against the United States Department of Defense (“DOD”) to compel compliance with 

the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § 552. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5

U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Additionally, it may grant declaratory 

relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 et seq. 

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and

28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 
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PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff AFL is a nonprofit organization working to promote the rule of 

law in the United States, prevent executive overreach, ensure due process and equal 

protection for all Americans, and encourage public knowledge and understanding of 

the law and individual rights guaranteed under the United States Constitution and 

the laws of the United States. AFL’s mission includes promoting government 

transparency and accountability by gathering official information, analyzing it, and 

disseminating it through reports, press releases, and/or other media, including social 

media platforms, all to educate the public. 

5. The Defendant, the United States Department of Defense, is an agency 

under 5 U.S.C. § 552(f), with its headquarters at 1000 Defense Pentagon, Washington 

DC.  

6. The Defendant has possession, custody, and control of the requested 

records. 

FACTS 

Tabatabai, Maier, and Phu (24-F-0147) 

7. On October 24, 2023, AFL submitted a FOIA request to DOD seeking 

certain records from DOD custodians Ariane Tabatabai, Christopher Maier, and 

Elizabeth M. Phu in addition to Ms. Tabatabai’s Form SF-86, Form SF-50, resumes, 

and conflict of interest disclosure forms. Ex. 1. 
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8. On October 24, 2023, AFL received messages from DOD stating that 

AFL’s FOIA request had been “Received” and assigned tracking number 24-F-0147. 

See Exs. 2, 3. 

9. On October 31, 2024, AFL received a letter from DOD stating that DOD 

placed AFL’s request into its “complex processing queue” and stated that “unusual 

circumstances” prevented DOD from responding “within the FOIA’s 20-day statutory 

time period.” Ex. 4. 

10. As of the date of filing, AFL has received no further communications 

from DOD concerning this FOIA request. 

Political Leadership and Staffing (23-F-0789) 

11. On May 9, 2023, the AFL submitted a FOIA request seeking certain 

employee records for all persons politically appointed to DOD to obtain more 

information regarding its political leadership. See Ex. 5. 

12. On May 9, 2023, DOD acknowledged that it received the request and 

assigned it tracking number 23-F-0789. See Exs. 6, 7. 

13. On May 11, 2023, AFL received an interim response stating that DOD 

placed AFL’s request into its “complex processing queue” and that “unusual 

circumstances” prevented DOD from responding “within the FOIA’s 20-day statutory 

time period.” See Ex. 8. 

14. On June 26, 2023, AFL received an email from DOD stating that an 

agency component requested permission to provide a report showing SF-50 

information in lieu of the SF-50 forms for each political appointee “reflecting any 
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change in position, title, or salary, including when the employee starts or leaves a 

position” as AFL originally requested. See Ex. 9. 

15. On July 5, 2023, AFL received an email following up on DOD’s June 26, 

2023, email. See Ex. 10. 

16. On July 5, 2023, AFL conferred with DOD and notified the agency that 

AFL could not accept the report in lieu of the requested records. See Ex. 11. 

17. As of the date of filing, AFL has received no further communications 

from the Department of Defense concerning this FOIA request. 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552 

18. AFL repeats paragraphs 1–17. 

19. AFL properly requested records within the possession, custody, and 

control of the Defendant. 

20. The Defendant has failed to produce the requested records within the 

statutory time limit. 

21. Moreover, because the Defendant failed to conduct searches, it failed to 

disclose any segregable, non-exempt portions of responsive records. See 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(b). 

22. The Defendant has failed to respond to AFL’s requests within the 

statutory time period. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6). 

23. Accordingly, AFL has exhausted its administrative remedies. See 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(c)(i). 
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24. The Defendant has violated the FOIA by failing, within the prescribed 

time limit, to reasonably search for records responsive to AFL’s FOIA request and 

release nonexempt records. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 WHEREFORE, AFL respectfully requests this Court: 

 i. Declare that the records sought by these requests, as described in the 

foregoing, must be disclosed pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552; 

 ii. Order the Defendant to conduct searches immediately for all records 

responsive to AFL’s FOIA requests and demonstrate that they employed search 

methods reasonably likely to lead to the discovery of responsive records; 

 iii. Order the Defendant to produce by a date certain all non-exempt records 

responsive to AFL’s FOIA requests, accompanied by a Vaughn index of any 

responsive records or portions or responsive records being withheld under a claim of 

exemption; 

iv. Order the Defendant to grant AFL’s requests for fee waivers; 

v. Award AFL attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in this action pursuant to 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E); and 

vi. Grant AFL such other and further relief as this Court deems proper. 

[signature page follows] 
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Dated: October 22, 2024 Respectfully submitted, 

 /s/ Michael Ding 
Reed D. Rubinstein (DC Bar No. 400153) 
Michael Ding (DC Bar No. 1027252) 
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION  
611 Pennsylvania Avenue SE #231 
Washington, DC 20003  

3721-964 202)(  
Michael.Ding@aflegal.org  
 
Counsel for America First Legal Foundation  
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611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231         320 South Madison Avenue 

Washington, DC 20003                      Monroe, Georgia 30655 
 

www.aflegal.org 

 
October 24, 2023 
 
Via OSD/JS Request Portal 
OSD/JS FOIA Requester Service Center 
Freedom of Information Division 
1155 Defense Pentagon 
Washington, DC 20301-1155 
 
Freedom of Information Act Request: OUSDP/ASD for Special Operations 
and Low-Intensity Conflict/Ariane Tabatabai 

 
Dear FOIA Officer: 
 
America First Legal Foundation is a national, nonprofit organization working to 
promote the rule of law in the United States, prevent executive overreach, and ensure 
due process and equal protection for all Americans, all to promote public knowledge 
and understanding of the law and individual rights guaranteed under the 
Constitution and laws of the United States. To that end, we file Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) requests on issues of pressing concern, then disseminate the 
information we obtain, making documents broadly available to the public, scholars, 
and the media. Using our editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct work, we 
distribute that work to a national audience through traditional and social media 
platforms. AFL’s X page has over 180,000 followers, and the X page of our Founder 
and President has over 530,000 followers. 
 
I. Custodian 
  

1. Ariane Tabatabai  
2. Christopher Maier 
3. Elizabeth M. Phu 

 
II. Requested Records 
 

A. All records (including but not limited to emails, text messages, and messages 
sent through encrypted messaging applications) of communications sent to or 
from Ms. Tabatabai containing any one of the following phrases or words: 
“Robert Malley,” “Malley,” “IEI,” “Hamas,” “Hezbollah,” “Iran,” “Zionist,” 
“clearance,” “TS/SCI,” “terrorist,” “Palestinian,” “House,” or “Senate.” 
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B. All records (including but not limited to emails, text messages, and messages 

sent through encrypted messaging applications) of communications between 
custodian Maier and/or custodian Phu with custodian Tabatabai containing 
any one of the following phrases or words: “Robert Malley,” “reporting,” “Iran,” 
“IEI,” “clearance,” “Senate,” “House,” “TS/SCI,” “testimony.” 
 

C. All records (including but not limited to emails, text messages, and messages 
sent through encrypted messaging applications) of communications between 
any of the listed custodians and Dina Esfandiary (aka “Dina Esfandiari”). 
 

D. Ms. Tabatabai’s Form SF-86, Form SF-50, resumes, and conflict of interest 
disclosure forms.  

 
III. Fee Waiver and Production 
 
Per 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii) and your agency’s fee waiver regulations, AFL requests 
a waiver of all search and duplication fees. AFL has a demonstrated ability and 
intention to effectively convey the information broadly to the public; AFL’s status as 
a representative of the news media has been recognized by other agencies; we have 
been granted fee waivers by the Departments of State, Defense, Education, Energy, 
Health and Human Services, Justice, Interior, and Homeland Security. As a non-
profit organization, AFL has no commercial interest in this request, which is made 
entirely to serve the public interest. Finally, disclosure of the information is in the 
public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding 
of the operations or activities of the government and of government operations. See 
22 CFR § 171.17. We are, of course, available to provide additional information in 
writing or offline to support this request. If AFL’s request for a fee waiver is not 
granted in full, please contact us immediately. 
 
Processing should strictly comply with the processing guidance in the Attorney 
General’s Memorandum on Freedom of Information Act Guidelines.1 If you have any 
questions about our request or believe further discussions regarding search and 
processing would facilitate the more efficient production of requested records, please 
get in touch with me at FOIA@aflegal.org. 
 
IV. Conclusion 
 
To accelerate your release of responsive records, AFL welcomes production on an 
agreed rolling basis. Please provide responsive records in an electronic format by 
email. Alternatively, please provide responsive records in native or PDF format on a 
USB drive to America First Legal Foundation, 611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231, 
Washington, DC 20003. 

 
1 U.S. DEP’T JUST. (Mar. 15, 2022), https://bit.ly/3zvpxb6. 
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Thank you in advance for your cooperation. 

Sincerely, 

/s/ Reed D. Rubinstein  
America First Legal Foundation 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION DIVISION 

1155 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1155 

 

Ref:  24-F-0147 

October 31, 2023 

 

Mr. Gene Hamilton 

611 Pennsylvania Avenue SE  

#231 

Washington, D.C. 20003 

 

Dear Mr. Hamilton: 

 

 This is an interim response to your October 24, 2023  Freedom of Information Act 

(FOIA) request, a copy of which is enclosed for your convenience.  We received your request on 

October 24, 2023, and assigned it FOIA case number 24-F-0147.  We ask that you use this 

number when referring to your request. 

 

 Although we have already begun processing your request, we will not be able to respond 

within the FOIA's 20-day statutory time period as there are unusual circumstances which impact 

our ability to quickly process your request.  The FOIA defines unusual circumstances as (a) the 

need to search for and collect records from a facility geographically separated from this office; 

(b) the potential volume of records responsive to your request; and (c) the need for consultation 

with one or more other agencies or DoD components having a substantial interest in either the 

determination or the subject matter of the records.  At least one, if not more of these scenarios 

applies or would likely apply to your request.  While this office handles FOIA requests for the 

Office of the Secretary of Defense (OSD), the Joint Staff (JS) and other component offices, we 

do not actually hold their records and our office is not geographically located with these 

organizations.  As we do not hold the records, until the required record searches are complete, 

we are unable to estimate the potential volume of records or the number of consultations that will 

be required to make a release determination.    

 

Expedited processing may be granted when the requester demonstrates a compelling need 

for the information and shows that the information has a particular value that would be lost if not 

processed on an expedited basis.  A key word here is "demonstrates."  Therefore, it is incumbent 

upon you to demonstrate that the requested records will serve an urgency purpose and that they 

will also be meaningful in the sense that they will provide a greater understanding of actual or 

alleged federal government activity on the part of the public-at-large than that which existed 

before such information was disseminated.  Consequently, it must be clearly demonstrated that 

such information has a particular value that will be lost if not disseminated quickly.  After 

carefully considering your request, this Office finds that you have not clearly demonstrated how 

the information will lose its value if not processed on an expedited basis.  For this reason, your 

request for expedited processing is denied. 
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Your request has been placed in our complex processing queue and is being worked 

based on the order in which the request was received.  Our current administrative workload is 

approximately 2,970 open requests.   

 

If you have requested a fee waiver, please note that decisions to waive or reduce fees are 

made on a case-by-case basis, and we will make a determination concerning your fee waiver 

request at the conclusion of the search and assessment of responsive records, should they exist.  

However, this office will only assess fees if we provide the final response to your FOIA request 

within the statutory time allotted by the FOIA or if the responsive records total more than 5,000 

pages, even after a good faith effort on our part to limit the scope of your request. 

 

In some instances, we have found that requesters who narrow the scope of their requests 

experience a reduction in the time needed to process their requests.  If you wish to narrow the 

scope of your request or have questions about the foregoing, please do not hesitate to contact 

your Action Officer, Rose Cartwright, at rose.m.cartwright3.ctr@mail.mil or 571-372-0413.  

 

Additionally, if you have concerns about service received by our office, please contact a 

member of our Leadership Team at 571-372-0498 or Toll Free at 866-574-4970. 

 

Should you wish to inquire about mediation services, you may contact the OSD/JS FOIA 

Public Liaison, Toni Fuentes, at 571-372-0462 or by email at OSD.FOIALiaison@mail.mil.  

You may also contact the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS) at the National 

Archives and Records Administration.  The contact information for OGIS is as follows:  

 

     Office of Government Information Services 

      National Archives and Records Administration 

     8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS 

      College Park, MD 20740 

      E-mail: ogis@nara.gov 

     Telephone: 202-741-5770 

      Fax: 202-741-5769 

      Toll-free: 1-877-684-6448 

 

We regret the delay in responding to your request and appreciate your patience.  As 

previously stated, please contact the Action Officer assigned to your request, Rose Cartwright, 

and reference FOIA case number 24-F-0147, if you have any questions or concerns. 

  

       Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

  Stephanie L. Carr 

  Chief  

 

Enclosure: 

As stated 
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611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231         320 South Madison Avenue 

Washington, DC 20003                      Monroe, Georgia 30655 
 

 
 
May 9, 2023 
 
Via OSD/JS Public Access Link (PAL) 
 
OSD/JS FOIA Requester Service Center 
Office of Freedom of Information 
1155 Defense Pentagon 
Washington, DC 20301-1155 
 
Freedom of Information Act Request: Information Regarding Political 
Leadership and Staffing at the Department of Defense 
 
Dear FOIA Officer: 
 
America First Legal Foundation is a national, nonprofit organization working to 
promote the rule of law in the United States, prevent executive overreach, and ensure 
due process and equal protection for all Americans, all to promote public knowledge 
and understanding of the law and individual rights guaranteed under the 
Constitution and laws of the United States. To that end, we file Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) requests on issues of pressing concern, then disseminate the 
information we obtain, making documents broadly available to the public, scholars, 
and the media. Using our editorial skills to turn raw materials into distinct work, we 
distribute that work to a national audience through traditional and social media 
platforms. AFL’s email list contains over 75,000 unique addresses, our Twitter page 
has over 90,000 followers, the Twitter page of our Founder and President has over 
441,000 followers, our Facebook page has 127,000 followers, and we have another 
31,800 followers on GETTR. 
  
I. Definitions 
 
For the purposes of this request, “Political Appointee” means any person who is 
employed by the Department who is: 1) Presidentially Appointed and Senate 
Confirmed (“PAS”); 2) Presidentially Appointed (“PA”); 3) in a non-career Senior 
Executive Service (“SES”) position; 5) a career SES but has been detailed to a 
leadership or political position since January 20, 2021, 6) a Schedule C employee; 7) 
a Schedule A employee; 7) in an administratively determined position; 8) in a position 
that was filled by coordination with, or through, the White House Liaison or 
Presidential Personnel Office (“PPO”); or 9) a Special Government Employee (“SGE”).  
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To the extent an SGE is not a Political Appointee or an actual employee any request 
or reference to a political appointee or employee should be read to mean “Political 
Appointee or SGE.” 
 
Requests A through C below are intended to be enterprise-wide, meaning that any 
political appointee who has been hired should be identified regardless of the office, 
component, or agency to which they have been assigned or have been detailed. 
 
II. Requested Records 
 

A. Records sufficient to identify all employees who entered into a position at the 
agency as a Political Appointee since January 20, 2021, to the date this records 
request is processed, and the title or position of each employee (to the extent 
that individuals have held multiple positions during this time period, identify 
each title or position and the time period it was held).  

B. Records sufficient to identify all career employees who, between January 20, 
2021, and the date this records request is processed, have been detailed to 1) a 
position eligible to be filled by a Political Appointee, or 2) a new position 
through coordination or consultation with either the White House Liaison or 
Presidential Personnel Office; the title or position of each employee while on 
detail; and each employee’s originating agency or component, and prior title. 

C. For each individual identified in response to Requests A and B provide:  

1. The resume provided by the individual to the agency in connection with 
determining the appropriate salary for the individual, or if that is not 
available, a recent resume contained within the agency’s records. AFL 
has no objection to the redaction of employee’s contact information, such 
as email, address, phone numbers etc.; however, prior employment, 
education, and descriptions of such experiences are not exempt and 
should be produced.  

2. Any waivers issued to the individual pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 208(b). 

3. Any authorizations for the individual issued pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 
2635.502.  

4. Any Ethics Pledge waivers, issued pursuant to Section 3 of Executive 
Order 13989 and Office of Government Ethics Legal Advisory 21-04, 
received by the individual.  
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5. Any ethics agreement executed by the individual; any Certification of 
Ethics Agreement Compliance; and any records relating to any violation 
by an individual of his or her ethics agreement.  

6. Records reflecting any recusal determination made or issued for the 
individual.  

7. Copies of any SF-50 forms for the individual reflecting any change in 
position, title, or salary, including when the employee starts or leaves a 
position.  

8. Completed Ethics Pledge for each individual.  

9. All records of position descriptions on file for each individual identified 
in Parts A and B above. 

D. All records relating to the processing of A, B, and C above. 

 
III. Processing and Production 
 
Per 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii) and your agency’s fee waiver regulations, AFL requests 
a waiver of all search and duplication fees. AFL has a demonstrated ability and 
intention to effectively convey the information broadly to the public; AFL’s status as 
a representative of the news media has been recognized by other agencies for granting 
fee waivers by the Departments of Defense, Education, Energy, Health and Human 
Services, Justice, Interior, and Homeland Security. As a non-profit organization, AFL 
has no commercial interest, and the request is made entirely to serve the public 
interest. We are, of course, available to provide additional information in writing or 
offline in support of this request. If AFL’s request for a fee waiver is not granted in 
full, please contact us immediately upon making that determination. 
 
Processing should strictly comply with the processing guidance in the Attorney 
General’s Memorandum on Freedom of Information Act Guidelines.1 If you have any 
questions about our request or believe further discussions regarding search and 
processing would facilitate the more efficient production of requested records, please 
get in touch with me at FOIA@aflegal.org. 
 
To accelerate your release of responsive records, AFL welcomes production on an 
agreed rolling basis. Please provide responsive records in an electronic format by 
email. Alternatively, please provide responsive records in native or PDF format on a 
USB drive to America First Legal Foundation, 611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231, 
Washington, DC 20003. 
 

 
1 U.S. DEP’T JUST. (Mar. 15, 2022), https://bit.ly/3zvpxb6. 
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Thank you in advance for your cooperation. 

Sincerely, 

/s/ Michael Ding  
America First Legal Foundation 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION DIVISION 

1155 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1155 

 

Ref: 23-F-0789 
May 11, 2023 

 
 
Mr. Gene Hamilton 
611 Pennsylvania Avenue 
Suite #231 
Washington, D.C., DC 20003 
 
Dear Mr. Hamilton: 
 
 This is an interim response to your May 9, 2023 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 
request, a copy of which is enclosed for your convenience.  We received your request on  
May 9, 2023, and assigned it FOIA case number 23-F-0789.  We ask that you use this number 
when referring to your request. 

 
 Although we have already begun processing your request, we will not be able to respond 
within the FOIA's 20-day statutory time period as there are unusual circumstances which impact 
our ability to quickly process your request.  The FOIA defines unusual circumstances as (a) the 
need to search for and collect records from a facility geographically separated from this office; 
(b) the potential volume of records responsive to your request; and (c) the need for consultation 
with one or more other agencies or DoD components having a substantial interest in either the 
determination or the subject matter of the records.  At least one, if not more of these scenarios 
applies or would likely apply to your request.  While this office handles FOIA requests for the 
Office of the Secretary of Defense (OSD), the Joint Staff (JS) and other component offices, we 
do not actually hold their records and our office is not geographically located with these 
organizations.  As we do not hold the records, until the required record searches are complete, 
we are unable to estimate the potential volume of records or the number of consultations that will 
be required to make a release determination.    

 
Your request has been placed in our complex processing queue and is being worked 

based on the order in which the request was received.  Our current administrative workload is 
approximately 3,513 open requests.   

 
If you have requested a fee waiver, please note that decisions to waive or reduce fees are 

made on a case-by-case basis, and we will make a determination concerning your fee waiver 
request at the conclusion of the search and assessment of responsive records, should they exist.  
However, this office will only assess fees if we provide the final response to your FOIA request 
within the statutory time allotted by the FOIA or if the responsive records total more than 5,000 
pages, even after a good faith effort on our part to limit the scope of your request.   
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In some instances, we have found that requesters who narrow the scope of their requests 
experience a reduction in the time needed to process their requests.  If you wish to narrow the 
scope of your request or have questions about the foregoing, please do not hesitate to contact 
your Action Officer, Camille Streeter, at camille.a.streeter.ctr@mail.mil or 703-693-6490.  

 
Additionally, if you have concerns about service received by our office, please contact a 

member of our Leadership Team at 571-372-0498 or Toll Free at 866-574-4970. 
 
Should you wish to inquire about mediation services, you may contact the OSD/JS FOIA 

Public Liaison, Toni Fuentes, at 571-372-0462 or by email at OSD.FOIALiaison@mail.mil.  
You may also contact the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS) at the National 
Archives and Records Administration.  The contact information for OGIS is as follows:  

 
     Office of Government Information Services 
      National Archives and Records Administration 
     8601 Adelphi Road-OGIS 
      College Park, MD 20740 
      E-mail: ogis@nara.gov 
     Telephone: 202-741-5770 
      Fax: 202-741-5769 
      Toll-free: 1-877-684-6448 
 
We regret the delay in responding to your request and appreciate your patience.  As 

previously stated, please contact the Action Officer assigned to your request, Camille Streeter, 
and reference FOIA case number 23-F-0789, if you have any questions or concerns. 
  
       Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
  Stephanie L.  Carr 
  Chief  
 
 
Enclosure: 
As stated 
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I. (a) PLAINTIFFS
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(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) 

DEFENDANTS 
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       Personal Injury Product Liability  
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442 Civil Rights – Employment 
  (criteria: race, gender/sex,  
  national origin,  
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152 Recovery of Defaulted 
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o K.   Labor/ERISA
   (non-employment) 

710 Fair Labor Standards Act 
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  & Enforcement of 
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196 Franchise 

o N.   Three-Judge
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441 Civil Rights – Voting
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V. ORIGIN

o 1 Original
Proceeding
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from State
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o 3 Remanded 
from Appellate
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or Reopened 
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from another 
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Litigation 

o 7 Appeal to
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from Mag. 
Judge
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Litigation –
Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE.) 

VII. REQUESTED IN
COMPLAINT

CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS  
ACTION UNDER F.R.C.P. 23 

DEMAND $ 
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET JS-44 
Authority for Civil Cover Sheet 

The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papers as required 
by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the 
Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  Consequently, a  civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed.  
Listed below are tips for completing the civil cover sheet.  These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals on the cover sheet.  

I. COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF/DEFENDANT (b) County of residence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiff if resident
of Washington, DC, 88888 if plaintiff is resident of United States but not Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States. 

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES: This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis of Jurisdiction
under Section II. 

IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: The assignment of a  judge to your case will depend on the category you select that best
represents the primary cause of action found in your complaint. You may select only one category.  You must also select one corresponding 
nature of suit found under the category of the case. 

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a  brief statement of the primary cause. 

VIII. RELATED CASE(S), IF ANY: If you indicated that there is a  related case, you must complete a related case form, which may be obtained from
the Clerk’s Office. 

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided prior to signing the form.  

Violation of FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, failing to release responsive, non-exempt records

✘

✘

10/22/2024 /s/ Michael Ding
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)

Plaintiff )

)

v. ) Civil Action No.

)

)

Defendant )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must

serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and

address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the

complaint.  You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

c/o Attorney General Merrick Garland
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
950 Pennsylvania Ave. NW
Washington, DC 20530

Michael Ding
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION
611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231
Washington, DC 20003

1:24-cv-2994

Case 1:24-cv-02994   Document 1-13   Filed 10/22/24   Page 1 of 2



PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

(name of individual and title, if any)

(date)

 (place)

(date)

(name)

(date)

(name of individual)

(name of organization)

(date)

(specify):

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

0.00
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)

Plaintiff )

)

v. ) Civil Action No.

)

)

Defendant )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must

serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and

address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the

complaint.  You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
1155 Defense Pentagon
Washington, DC 20301-1155

Michael Ding
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION
611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231
Washington, DC 20003

1:24-cv-2994
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

(name of individual and title, if any)

(date)

 (place)

(date)

(name)

(date)

(name of individual)

(name of organization)

(date)

(specify):

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

0.00
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)

Plaintiff )

)

v. ) Civil Action No.

)

)

Defendant )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 30 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) you must

serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and

address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the

complaint.  You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia
Civil Process Clerk
601 D Street NW
Washington, DC 20530
Email service to: USADC.ServiceCivil@usdoj.gov

Michael Ding
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION
611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231
Washington, DC 20003

1:24-cv-2994
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

(name of individual and title, if any)

(date)

 (place)

(date)

(name)

(date)

(name of individual)

(name of organization)

(date)

(specify):

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

0.00
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